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ISSUES PRESENTED 
 

A. Whether the Ballot Title Setting Board (the “Board”) lacked 

jurisdiction under C.R.S. § 1-40-106 to set the title, ballot title, and submission 

clause (collectively, the “Titles”) for Initiative 2013-2014 #103 (“Initiative #103”) 

at the initiative’s Rehearing, when: 

1. Barbara Mills-Bria, one of two Designated Representatives of 

the Initiative’s proponents, failed to appear for the rehearing on April 

25, 2014 (the “Rehearing”), as required by C.R.S. § 1-40-106(4)(a); 

and 

2. The Board accepted a substitute for Designated Representative 

Barbara Mills-Bria at the Rehearing in violation of C.R.S. § 1-40-104, 

which requires proponents to designate representatives “[a]t the time 

of any filing of a draft,” and 1-40-106(4)(a), which requires these 

Designated Representatives to appear at any title board meeting “at 

which the [D]esignated [R]epresentative’s ballot issue is considered.” 

B. Whether the Board incorrectly determined that Initiative #103 is 

limited to a single subject, in light of the multiple objectives of this measure to:  

1. Create a constitutional public trust doctrine based on creation of 

a common property interest in the environment and natural resources; 
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2. Create an inalienable right to clean air, clean water, and the 

preservation of the environment and natural resources (defined 

collectively in the initiative as “public trust resources”);  

3. Criminalize the manipulation of data, reports, or scientific 

information in an attempt to utilize public trust resources for private 

profit; and 

4. Apply retroactive conditions and requirements on any local, 

state, or federal permit issued for any public action or commercial 

dealing in which public trust resources may be affected. 

C. Whether the Board’s Titles for Initiative #103 are unfair in that the 

phrase “concerning public ownership of natural and environmental resources” does 

not clearly express either a single subject or the full scope of Initiative #103, and in 

that they omit any mention of the creation of an inalienable right, which is a 

material feature of the Initiative. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
 

A. Statement of Facts.   
 

Phillip Doe and Barbara Mills-Bria (“Proponents”) proposed Initiative #103, 

a copy of which is attached as Appendix A.  Initiative #103 would amend article 

XVI of the Colorado constitution by adding a new section 9 with six subsections.  
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Subsection (1) declares that the people of Colorado have an “inalienable right to 

clean air, pure water, including ground and surface water, and the preservation of 

the environment and natural resources . . . .”  These resources are defined in 

subsection (1), and are referred to in the new Section, as “public trust resources.”  

Subsection (1) goes on to declare that public trust resources are the “common 

property of all the people, including generations yet to come,” and then the 

subsection obligates the state to “conserve and maintain [these resources] for the 

benefit of all the people.” 

Subsection (2) expands upon the newly created trust obligations of “the state 

government and its agents” by requiring them to “protect public trust resources 

from substantial impairment, including pollution from external sources.”  The 

standard by which the state shall gauge an “action or policy,” according to 

subsection (2), is termed “the precautionary principle.”  This principle would 

require the proponent to demonstrate that a proposed action is “not harmful” if the 

action has a “suspected risk of substantially impairing” public trust resources, 

absent any “scientific consensus that the action or policy is harmful.” 

Subsection (3) of the initiative allows any Colorado citizen, “as beneficiary 

of public trust resources,” to petition in court “to defend and preserve such 

resources against substantial impairment,” and to “ensure that the state is meeting 
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its obligations as trustee.”  Subsection (3) also spells out the remedies that may be 

granted in these civil actions. 

The fiduciary duty of the state as trustee is further explained in subsection 

(4).  This duty requires the state to use “the best science available in any process or 

proceeding in which public trust resources may be affected.”  Additionally, the 

subsection requires the state to refer for criminal prosecution “any person, 

corporation, or other entity found to be manipulating data, reports, or scientific 

information in an attempt to utilize public trust resources for private profit.”  Such 

activity, according to subsection (4), could result in penalties, criminal or 

otherwise, including loss of charter to operate in the state. 

Subsection (5) declares that this new Section of the constitution is self-

enacting and self-executing, but further states that it shall apply to a public action 

or commercial dealing that violates the provision of the new Section, “regardless of 

the date of any applicable local, state, or federal permits.”  Finally, subsection (6) 

provides that laws may be enacted to “enhance, but cannot be contrary to” the new 

Section. 

B. Nature of the Case, Cause or Proceeding and Disposition Below. 

The Board conducted a public hearing (the “Initial Hearing”) on April 16, 

2014, pursuant to C.R.S. § 1-40-106.  At the Initial Hearing, the Board accepted 
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two Affidavits of Designated Representative for Initiative #103: one from Phillip 

Thomas Doe and another from Barbara Mills-Bria, certified copies of which are 

attached as Appendix B, Pages 2-3.  Both Affidavits were signed and notarized in 

accordance with C.R.S. § 1-40-106(4)(b).  The Board then considered Initiative 

#103, determined that it consisted of a single subject, and set the Titles.  Petitioner 

Douglas Kemper, a registered elector of the state of Colorado, filed a Motion for 

Rehearing pursuant to C.R.S. § 1-40-107(1) on April 23, 2014.  The Motion for 

Rehearing, together with a motion for rehearing on the same measure filed by 

Mizraim S. Cordero and Scott Prestidge, was heard at the next scheduled meeting 

of the Board (the “Rehearing”) on April 25, 2014.   

One of the Designated Representatives, Barbara Mills-Bria, failed to appear 

at the Rehearing.  Instead, the Board accepted an “Acknowledgement of 

Withdrawal” from Ms. Mills-Bria, signed by her and Mr. Doe, a certified copy of 

which is attached as Appendix B, Pages 4-5.  The Board then accepted an 

“Acknowledgement of Replacement of Designated Representative,” with notarized 

signatures by a substitute for Ms. Mills-Bria, Sandra Toland, and by Mr. Doe, a 

certified copy of which is attached as Appendix B, Pages 6-7.  The Board also 

accepted a signed and notarized Affidavit of Designated Representative from 

Sandra Toland, a certified copy of which is attached as Appendix B, Page 8.   
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The Board denied both Motions for Rehearing by majority vote, except to 

the extent that the Board made changes to the Titles.  Board member Jason 

Gelender voted to grant the motions.  The Board designated and fixed the 

following title at the Rehearing: 

An amendment to the Colorado constitution concerning public 
ownership of natural and environmental resources, and, in connection 
therewith, creating a public trust in those resources, which include 
clean air, clean water, and the preservation of the environment and 
natural resources; requiring the state, as trustee, to conserve and 
maintain public trust resources by using the best science available to 
protect them against any substantial impairment, regardless of any 
prior federal, state, or local approval; seeking natural resource 
damages from anyone who substantially impairs them, and using 
damages obtained to remediate the impairment; allowing Colorado 
citizens to file enforcement actions in court; requiring anyone who is 
proposing an action or policy that might substantially impair public 
trust resources to prove that the action or policy is not harmful; and 
criminalizing the manipulation of data, reports, or scientific 
information in an attempt to use public trust resources for private 
profit. 

 
The ballot title and submission clause as designated and fixed by the Board is 

substantially the same as the title, except that it begins with the phrase, “Shall there 

be,” and ends with a question mark.  Mr. Kemper seeks review of the final action 

of the Board pursuant to C.R.S. § 1-40-107(2). 
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 

The Board lacked jurisdiction to set Titles for Initiative #103 because one of 

the two Designated Representatives of the Proponents, Barbara Mills-Bria, failed 

to appear for the Rehearing as required by statute.  The Board lacked statutory 

authority to accept a substituted Designated Representative at the Rehearing.  The 

absence of Ms. Mills-Bria therefore deprived the Board of jurisdiction to set Titles 

at the Rehearing. 

Initiative #103 has multiple subjects.  Not only does it create a constitutional 

public trust doctrine, linked to a newly declared common property interest in the 

environment and natural resources, it also: (1) creates an inalienable right to clean 

air, clean water, and preservation of the environment and natural resources; (2) 

criminalizes the manipulation of data, reports and scientific information under 

certain circumstances; and (3) applies conditions and requirements retroactively to 

any existing local, state, or federal permits that could affect public trust resources.  

These surreptitious subjects, hidden under the broad rubric of a public trust, lack 

any necessary or proper connection to the stated purpose of a public trust doctrine.   

Even if Initiative #103 contained a single subject, the Titles set by the Board 

do not fairly express the true intent and meaning of Initiative #103.  The phrase 

“concerning public ownership of natural and environmental resources,” used to 
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summarize the Initiative’s entire subject, fails to encompass the Initiative’s foray 

into criminal law or its reconsideration of existing permits and property rights.  

Moreover, the Titles fail to clearly describe the Initiative’s treatment of existing 

permits, and omit any mention of the inalienable right the Initiative would create.   

This Court should reverse the Board’s action in setting Titles because the 

Board lacked jurisdiction to set Titles in the absence of a Designated 

Representative at the Rehearing, Initiative #103 is not limited to a single subject, 

and the Titles fail to disclose the full scope and essential features of the Initiative. 

LEGAL ARGUMENT 
 

I. The Board lacked jurisdiction to set the Titles for Initiative #103 
because one of the initiative’s Designated Representatives failed to 
appear at a meeting at which the initiative was considered.  

 
This Court should find that the Board lacked jurisdiction to set the Titles for 

Initiative #103 because one of the initiative’s Designated Representatives, Barbara 

Mills-Bria, failed to appear at the Rehearing at which the initiative was considered. 

A. Standard of Review 
 
This Court reviews statutes governing the Board’s authority de novo.  Hayes 

v. Ottke, 293 P.3d 551, 554 (Colo. 2013).  The goal in construing a statute is to 

ascertain and give effect to the General Assembly’s intent, first by looking at the 

statutory language in question.  Byrne v. Title Board, 907 P.2d 570, 573 (Colo. 
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1995).  Where the language of the statute is clear and unambiguous, this Court 

gives effect to the plain and ordinary meaning of the statute, without resorting to 

other rules of statutory construction.  Id.  The statutory scheme creating the Board 

contains detailed and comprehensive provisions delineating the Board’s duties and 

the process and procedural standards by which the Board is to carry out its unique 

statutory charge.  See In re Title, Ballot Title and Submission Clause, and 

Summary for Proposed Initiative Entitled “W.A.T.E.R.”, 831 P.2d 1301, 1306 

(Colo. 1992). 

B. Designated Representatives of a ballot initiative’s proponents 
must comply with attendance and affidavit requirements under 
the law. 

 
For a ballot initiative to be considered at a Title Board meeting, Designated 

Representatives of an initiative’s proponents must comply with the statutory 

attendance and affidavit requirements.  C.R.S. § 1-40-106(4).  Each Designated 

Representative shall appear at any Title Board meeting at which the Designated 

Representative’s ballot issue is considered.  C.R.S. § 1-40-106(4)(a).  Each 

Designated Representative shall certify by notarized affidavit that he is familiar 

with the statutory requirements placed upon him as a Designated Representative, 

and shall sign and file such affidavit with the secretary of state at the first Title 

Board meeting at which the Designated Representative’s ballot issue is considered.  
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C.R.S. § 1-40-106(4)(b).  The Title Board “shall not” set a title for a ballot issue if 

either Designated Representative of the proponents fails to appear at a Title Board 

meeting or file an affidavit as required by law.  C.R.S. § 1-40-106(4)(d). 

The title setting process is not complete until the Title Board has ruled on 

any motions for rehearing.  Hayes, 293 P.3d at 557.  A rehearing for an initiative is 

not simply a “procedural” hearing, but is an important part of the statutory scheme 

designed to implement the constitutional single-subject and clear-title 

requirements.  Id.  Under the plain language of C.R.S. § 1-40-106(4)(d), the Board 

may not waive these attendance and affidavit requirements; it is deprived of the 

authority to set a title when either of the Designated Representatives fails to appear 

at a Title Board meeting.  Id. at 557-58. 

Barbara Mills-Bria was a Designated Representative for Initiative #103 and 

its predecessors, Initiatives #73 and #83, from the time each of these measures was 

submitted for review and comment.  She confirmed her status as Designated 

Representative when she signed and submitted a notarized affidavit at the Initial 

Hearing for Initiative #103.  The affidavit stated that Ms. Mills-Bria was “familiar 

with the provisions” regarding her responsibilities as a Designated Representative.  

The Board accepted Ms. Mills-Bria’s affidavit at the Initial Hearing for Initiative 

#103, along with that of the initiative’s other Designated Representative, Phillip 
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Thomas Doe.  The Board then set the Titles for Initiative #103.  At the Board’s 

next regularly scheduled meeting, the Board conducted the Rehearing on Initiative 

#103 pursuant to two Motions for Rehearing filed in accordance with C.R.S. § 1-

40-107(1).  Ms. Mills-Bria failed to appear at the Rehearing as required by C.R.S. 

§ 1-40-106(4)(a). 

The Board accepted a notarized affidavit from Sandra Toland, as a purported  

substitute for Ms. Mills-Bria, at the Rehearing.  By accepting the substitute 

affidavit, the Board exceeded its statutory authority.  C.R.S. § 1-40-106(4)(b) 

requires such affidavits to be submitted “at the first title board meeting at which 

the designated representative’s ballot issue is considered.”  Since this was not the 

first Title Board meeting considering Initiative #103, the Board had no statutory 

authority to accept the Affidavit.  The Board operated outside its statutory 

authority, therefore, when it set Titles for Initiative #103 even as one of the 

Designated Representatives, Barbara Mills-Bria, failed to appear at the Rehearing.  

The statute is clear and unambiguous that the Board lacks jurisdiction to set 

Titles when “either of the Designated Representatives” fails to appear at a title 

board meeting where the measure is considered.  This mandatory attendance 

requirement includes the Rehearing.  Hayes, 293 P.3d at 557.  Additionally, the 

Board lacked jurisdiction under C.R.S. § 1-40-106(4)(d) when it accepted Ms. 
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Toland’s Affidavit that had not been filed at the Initial Hearing on Initiative #103, 

“as required” by law.  See C.R.S. § 1-40-106(4)(d).  A Designated Representative’s 

failure to attend a rehearing deprives the Board of jurisdiction to set titles at the 

rehearing.  Hayes, 293 P.3d at 557.  Therefore, this Court should find that the 

Board lacked jurisdiction to set the Titles for Initiative #103 because Designated 

Representative Barbara Mills-Bria failed to appear at a meeting at which her 

initiative was considered. 

II. Initiative #103 violates the single subject rule because it attempts to 
accomplish multiple discrete purposes. 

 
 This Court should reverse the Board’s decision to set Titles for Initiative 

#103 because it violates the single subject rule.  It contains the following distinct 

subjects and purposes: 

 1. To create a constitutional public trust doctrine based on a declared 

common property interest in the environment and natural resources; 

 2. To create a new inalienable right to clean air, clean water, and 

preservation of the environment and natural resources; 

 3. To criminalize any manipulation of data, reports, or scientific 

information in an attempt to use public trust resources for private profit; and 
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 4. To apply retroactively new conditions and requirements to previously 

permitted activities and transactions, “regardless of the date of any applicable 

local, state, or federal permits,” subjecting current property interests to a taking. 

A. Standard of Review. 

Generally, the Board’s actions are treated as presumptively valid.  In re 

Title, Ballot Title and Submission Clause, and Summary for 1999-2000 #235(a), 3 

P.3d 1219, 1222 (Colo. 2000).  However, the “court must sufficiently examine an 

initiative to determine whether a measure violates the single subject rule.”  In re 

Title and Ballot Title and Submission Clause for 2005-2006 #55, 138 P.3d 273, 

278 (Colo. 2006).  When necessary, the court may characterize a proposal 

sufficiently to enable review of the Board's actions.  Id.  The court must “examine 

sufficiently an initiative's central theme, as expressed, to determine whether it 

contains incongruous or hidden purposes or bundles incongruous measures under a 

broad theme.”  Id. at 279. 

B. An initiative must be limited to only one subject. 
 

A proposed initiative violates the single subject requirements of article V, 

section 1(5.5) of the Constitution and C.R.S. § 1-40-106.5 when it “relate[s] to 

more than one subject and . . . [has] at least two distinct and separate purposes 

which are not dependent upon or connected with each other.”  In re Title, Ballot 

13 

 



Title and Submission Clause, and Summary for 1999-2000 #256, 12 P.3d 246, 253 

(Colo. 2000) (quoting In re Proposed Initiative “Public Rights in Waters II,” 898 

P.2d 1076, 1078-79 (Colo. 1995)) (brackets in original). 

The danger associated with a broad general theme containing multiple 

subjects is the “voter surprise and fraud occasioned by the inadvertent passage of a 

surreptitious provision coiled up in the folds of a complex [initiative].”  In re Title, 

Ballot Title, and Submission Clause for 2009-2010 #24, 218 P.3d 350, 353 (Colo. 

2009) (quoting In re Title, Ballot Title and Submission Clause for 2007-2008 #17, 

172 P.3d 871, 875 (Colo. 2007)).  To evaluate whether or not an initiative 

encompasses a single subject, the Court should first look to the text of the proposed 

initiative.  In re Title, Ballot Title and Submission Clause for 2005-2006 #74, 136 

P.3d 237, 239 (Colo. 2006).  The Court should employ the usual rules of statutory 

construction, including reading all words and phrases in context and construing 

them according to the rules of grammar and common usage.  In re Title, Ballot 

Title and Submission Clause, and Summary for 2005-2006 #75, 138 P.3d 267, 271 

(Colo. 2006).  In construing an initiative’s language, each clause is presumed to 

have a specific purpose.  In re Interrogatories Relating to the Great Outdoors 

Colorado Trust Fund, 913 P.2d 533, 542 (Colo. 1996).  The Court should favor a 
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construction that will give effect to each word, rather than one that will render 

some words useless.  City of Aurora v. Acosta, 892 P.2d 264, 267 (Colo. 1995).   

C. The theme of Initiative #103 is too broad and vague, and its 
hidden subjects would lead to voter surprise, defeating the 
purpose of the single subject rule. 

 
Though characterized as parts of the single theme that Initiative #103 calls 

“the state’s duties under the public trust doctrine,” the several parts of Initiative 

#103 reveal at least four distinct purposes.  None of the four subjects requires that 

any of the others be enacted to achieve its underlying purpose.  The only common 

characteristic claimed by the Proponents is that all four distinct and separate 

subjects involve “the state’s duties under the public trust doctrine.”  Just as this 

Court has determined that a common theme of “water” is too broad to constitute a 

single subject, see In re Public Rights in Waters II, 898 P.2d at 1080, so it follows 

that “the state’s duties under the public trust doctrine is entirely too broad of a 

theme to constitute a single subject – especially when the “public trust doctrine” is 

as all-encompassing as the one proposed here.  Such a concern was voiced by Mr. 

Jason Gelender, member of the Title Board, at the Rehearing prior to his vote 

against the Board’s jurisdiction based on the initiative’s violation of the single 

subject rule: “I think the public would be surprised in voting on this to find out just 

how broad it really is likely to be, that it’s likely to apply a public trust to just 
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about everything.”  Rehearing Transcript dated April 25, 2014 (“Rehearing 

Transcript”), p. 19, ll. 17-20, attached as Appendix C. 

 The single subject rule seeks “to prevent proponents from joining 

incongruous subjects in the same measure, thereby ensuring that each proposal 

depends on its own merits for passage.”  In re Title, Ballot Title and Submission 

clause for 2009-2010 #45, 234 P.3d 642, 646 (Colo. 2010) (quotations omitted).  

The danger associated with an initiative that contains multiple subjects is the 

“voter surprise and fraud occasioned by the inadvertent passage of a surreptitious 

provision coiled up in the folds of a complex issue.”  In re Title, 2009-2010 #24, 

218 P.3d at 353 (quotations omitted).  This danger is highlighted when an initiative 

with multiple subjects is “improperly offered as a single subject by stating the 

subject in broad terms.”  In re Title, 2007-2008 #17, 172 P.3d at 874.  Combining 

these four separate and distinct subjects of Initiative #103 into one initiative would 

surprise voters by hiding the measure’s separate purposes under a broad theme.  

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the Board’s action in setting the Titles. 

1. Initiative #103 creates a constitutional public trust doctrine 
based on a newly created common property interest in 
“public trust resources.” 

 
 Subsections (1) and (2) of the Initiative would obligate the state and its 

agents, as “trustees” of “public trust resources,” to protect those resources against 
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“substantial impairment, including pollution from external sources.”  Public trust 

resources are defined in subsection (1) as “clean air, clean water, including ground 

and surface water, and the preservation of the environment and natural resources.”  

(Emphasis added.)  Subsection (1) declares that these resources are the “common 

property” of all the people, including generations yet to come.  As trustee, the state 

would be required to conserve and maintain public trust resources for the benefit of 

all the people.  These “public trust” obligations and standards are similar to those 

Mr. Doe proposed in a 2007 measure, where this Court noted the “public trust 

language . . . only recasts the words of prior [public trust] initiatives,” and held the 

public trust requirements lacked any proper connection to creation of a new state 

environmental agency, violating the single subject requirement.  In re Title, 2007-

2008 #17, 172 P.3d at 875. 

The newly imposed trust obligations on the state with regard to the newly 

created common property interest in the state’s ground and surface water, among 

other resources, would completely alter the nature of Colorado’s water rights.  

Colorado water law is grounded in the right of prior appropriation, constitutionally 

guaranteed by sections 5 and 6 of article XVI.  Unlike several other states, 

Colorado’s constitution establishes and protects the right of any person or entity to 

appropriate the waters of the state and put them to beneficial use.  Colo. Const. art. 
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XVI, § 5 (“The water of every natural stream, not heretofore appropriated, within 

the state of Colorado, is hereby declared to be the property of the public, and the 

same is dedicated to the use of the people of the state, subject to appropriation as 

hereinafter provided.”); Colo. Const. art. XVI, § 6 (“The right to divert the 

unappropriated waters of any natural stream to beneficial uses shall never be 

denied.”).  Only the unappropriated water is the public’s property; citizens and 

communities acquire property rights in this resource by appropriation and 

beneficial use.  Under this doctrine of prior appropriation, the person who first 

diverts water and puts it to beneficial use has a right superior to any other person 

who subsequently appropriates water from the same water resource.  See Navajo 

Dev. Co., Inc. v. Sanderson, 655 P.2d 1374, 1377 (Colo. 1982).   An appropriative 

water right is a “most valuable property right” to use a certain amount of water, 

subject only to the amount of water physically available for appropriation and the 

amount taken to satisfy senior priorities.  Id. at 1378 (citation omitted).   

Initiative #103’s public trust in the environment and natural resources would  

follow and extend the path some other states have taken in expanding their 

common-law public trust doctrines to protect environmental features of water 

resources.  For example, the California Supreme Court has held that the state has 

public trust obligations to preserve tidelands “in their natural state, so that they 
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may serve as ecological units for scientific study, as open space, and as 

environments which provide food and habitat for birds and marine life, and which 

favorably affect the scenery and climate of the area.”  Marks v. Whitney, 491 P.2d 

374, 380 (Cal. 1971).  California’s Supreme Court also recognized this public trust 

doctrine was on a “collision course” with prior appropriation water rights, 

ultimately requiring state agencies to take public trust interests into account in 

determining or reconsidering previously granted water rights.  National Audobon 

Society v. Superior Court, 658 P.2d 709, 712, 727-28 (Cal. 1983).  Hawaii’s 

Supreme Court reached the same result in applying a constitutional provision 

similar1 to the public trust features in Section (1) of Initiative #103 to limit existing 

water rights in order to preserve the environment.  In re Water Use Permit 

Applications, 9 P.3d 409, 452-54 (Haw. 2000) (citing National Audobon, 658 P.2d 

at 728 n. 27 (Cal. 1983)). 

1  Hawaii’s Constitution, art. XI, § 1, provides:  

For the benefit of present and future generations, the State and its 
political subdivisions shall conserve and protect Hawaii's natural 
beauty and all natural resources, including land, water, air, minerals 
and energy sources, and shall promote the development and utilization 
of these resources in a manner consistent with their conservation and 
in furtherance of the self-sufficiency of the State. All public natural 
resources are held in trust by the State for the benefit of the people. 
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Colorado, by contrast, has never recognized any form of public trust doctrine 

in water, having rejected such a concept as inconsistent with Colorado’s 

constitution and prior appropriation doctrine.  People v. Emmert, 597 P.2d 1025, 

1027-28 (Colo. 1979); see also In re Title, Ballot Title, and Submission clause for 

2011-2012 #3, 274 P.3d 562, 573 (Colo. 2012) (Hobbs, J., dissenting); Aspen 

Wilderness Workshop, Inc. v. Colo. Water Conservation Bd., 901 P.2d 1251, 1263 

(Colo. 1995) (Mullarkey, J., dissenting) (noting, “This court has never recognized 

the public trust with respect to water.”).  Accordingly, Initiative #103’s proposed 

public trust for environmental protection, and its accompanying declaration of 

“common property,” would radically transform Colorado’s scheme of priority-

based water rights if interpreted (as in California and Hawaii) to subordinate 

existing appropriative water rights, regardless of priority, to the public’s new 

common property right.  Under Colorado’s prior appropriation doctrine, the value 

of a water right is the priority to use a certain amount of water from a specified 

source such as a river or lake.  Navajo Dev. Co., 655 P.2d at 1377.  Subjecting 

these established priority rights to the “common property of all Coloradans” would 

be a radical change to Colorado’s prior appropriation system, substantially 

diminishing the value of the property rights grounded in the established priorities.  

This public trust, with its inherent disruption to Colorado’s water law, has no 
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necessary or proper connection with the other subsections of Initiative #103 which 

recognize an inalienable right of all Coloradans to public trust resources, 

criminalize certain uses of scientific data in an attempt to utilize resources for 

private profit, and retroactively apply permitting conditions and requirements. 

2. Initiative #103 creates an inalienable right to clean air, 
clean water, and the preservation of the environment and 
natural resources. 

 
Subsection (1) of Initiative #103 declares that “the people of Colorado have 

an inalienable right” to public trust resources, defined within the subsection as 

“clean air, clean water . . . and the preservation of the environment and natural 

resources.”   

The Colorado Bill of Rights recognizes that: “All persons have certain 

natural, essential and inalienable rights, among which may be reckoned the right of 

enjoying and defending their lives and liberties; of acquiring, possessing and 

protecting property; and of seeking and obtaining their safety and happiness.”  

COLO. CONST. art. II, § 3.  Inalienable rights are not absolute rights.  Colorado 

Anti-Discrimination Comm’n v. Case, 380 P.2d 34, 41 (Colo. 1962).  To determine 

whether a restriction placed on an inalienable right is valid, Colorado courts 

determine whether the restriction is “based upon a proper exercise of the police 
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power of the state in the protection of the public health, safety and welfare.”  

People v. Nothaus, 363 P.2d 180, 182 (Colo. 1961). 

By declaring that Coloradans have an inalienable right to public trust 

resources, Initiative #103 places this right among the most zealously protected 

rights that are recognized under the state constitution.  Public trust resources would 

become one of the few rights specifically named as “inalienable,” and of such 

importance to the state that the standard of review protecting them would be the 

most demanding for the state to overcome.  The creation of an inalienable right to 

public trust resources has no necessary or proper connection to the adoption of a 

public trust doctrine, nor does it have a necessary or proper connection to the 

criminalization of certain acts involving scientific data, nor to the retroactive 

application of permitting requirements. 

3. Initiative #103 expands criminal law in a way that is 
unconnected to the adoption of a public trust doctrine. 

 
Not only would Initiative #103 impose trust responsibilities altering private 

property rights that have long been recognized and protected in Colorado, but it 

would create new criminal law in a way that is not necessary or connected to 

“public ownership of natural and environmental resources.”  Subsection (4) 

requires the state to refer “for prosecution for any criminal offenses that may 
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apply” any person, corporation, or other entity found to be “manipulating data, 

reports, or scientific information in any attempt to utilize public trust resources for 

private profit.”  There is no such crime under Colorado law entailing the specific 

elements of “manipulating data, reports, or scientific information in an attempt to 

utilize public trust resources for private profit.”   

By subjecting someone to potential criminal prosecution for any such act, 

Initiative #103 is criminalizing it.  The Board’s adopted title language,  

“criminalizing the manipulation of data, reports or scientific information in an 

attempt to use public trust resources for private profit,” recognizes this fact.  

Criminalizing the manipulation of certain data in order to generate private profit 

has no necessary or proper connection to the adoption of a public trust doctrine. 

Neither does it have a necessary or proper connection to the creation of an 

inalienable right, nor to the retroactive application of permitting requirements. 

4. Initiative #103 imposes retroactive conditions and 
requirements on permits that affect public trust resources. 

 
Subsection (5) declares that the newly-created Section of the Colorado 

Constitution shall apply to “a public action or commercial dealing that would 

violate it, regardless of the date of any applicable local, state, or federal permits.”  

(Emphasis added.)  This plain language of the initiative makes clear that the 
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newly-created trustee obligations placed on the state and its agents, including the 

requirement to “conserve and maintain” public trust resources (subsection (1)), the 

“precautionary principle” (subsection (2)), and the fiduciary duties to use the “best 

science available” as well as the criminalization of certain uses of scientific data 

for private profit (subsection (4)), are to be applied retrospectively and 

retroactively to any presently valid permit.  Such permits could include those 

authorizing the production of oil and natural gas, as well as decrees and permits for 

the diversion or use of water resources.  Subjecting these property interests in 

presently valid permits to this retroactive application of new permitting 

requirements threatens these interests with a taking in violation of the Takings 

Clause of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution.  See Landgraf v. 

USI Film Products, 511 U.S. 244, 266 (1994) (“The Fifth Amendment’s Takings 

Clause prevents the Legislature (and other government actors) from depriving 

private persons of vested property rights except for a ‘public use’ and upon 

payment of ‘just compensation.’”) This retroactive application of permitting 

requirements has no necessary or proper connection with the adoption of a public 

trust doctrine, nor does it have a necessary or proper connection to the creation of 

an inalienable right to public trust resources, nor to the criminalization of certain 

acts involving scientific data used for private profit. 
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III. The Titles set for Initiative #103 do not fully express the Initiative’s true 
meaning and intent.  

 
 The Titles should be “a brief statement that fairly and accurately represents 

the true intent and meaning of the proposed text of the initiative.”  C.R.S. § 1-40-

102(10).  In setting titles, the Board “shall consider the public confusion that might 

be caused by misleading titles and shall, whenever practicable, avoid titles for 

which the general understanding of the effect of a ‘yes/for’ or ‘no/against’ vote 

will be unclear.”  C.R.S. § 1-40-106(3)(b).  The Titles fail to meet these standards, 

because they describe Initiative #103’s subject as concerning only “public 

ownership of natural and environmental resources,” and improperly omit material 

provisions of the Initiative. 

A. Standard of Review. 

 In reviewing Titles, the Court must “engage all legitimate presumptions in 

favor of the propriety of the Title Board’s actions. . . .”  In re Title, Ballot Title, 

and Submission Clause for 2007-2008 #62, 184 P.3d 52, 58 (Colo. 2008).  While 

the Court may not rewrite the titles or submission clause for the Board, it must 

determine whether the prohibition against unclear titles has been violated.  Id.  The 

Court will “reverse the Board’s action in preparing [the titles] if they contain a 

material and significant omission, misstatement, or misrepresentation.”  Id. 
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(quotations omitted).  Ballot titles “‘shall correctly and fairly express the true intent 

and meaning’ of the initiative,” unambiguously stating the principle of the 

amendment.  Id.).  Further, the Colorado constitution also requires that the title 

clearly express the initiative’s single subject.  In re Title, 2009-2010 # 45, 234 P.3d 

at 647-48. 

The matter covered by [the initiative] is to be clearly, not dubiously or 
obscurely, indicated by the title.  Its relation to the subject must not 
rest upon a merely possible or doubtful inference.  The connection 
must be so obvious as that ingenious reasoning, aided by superior 
rhetoric, will not be necessary to reveal it.  Such connection should be 
within the comprehension of the ordinary intellect, as well as the 
trained legal mind. 

 
Id. (citation omitted) (bracket in original) 

B. The Titles inaccurately describe the Initiative’s subject as the 
“public ownership of natural and environmental resources.” 

 
This Court should reverse the Board’s decision setting Titles for Initiative 

#103 because the phrase “concerning public ownership of natural and 

environmental resources” is too vague and does not adequately describe the full 

scope of the measure.  The Titles describe the subject of Initiative #103 as “[a]n 

amendment to the Colorado constitution concerning public ownership of natural 

and environmental resources.” This phrase is too vague because it fails to indicate 

the Initiative’s extent to the point of reconsidering existing permits and property 
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rights.  Moreover, the phrase is inadequate and misleading in that it fails to 

consider the Initiative’s provisions that would create a new inalienable right and a 

new crime.  The Titles fail to provide voters with adequate notice that, by 

providing for state control of natural and environmental resources, the Initiative 

would expand criminal law and limit private property rights. 

In drafting the Titles, the Board has attempted to craft a title that describes 

only a single subject.  In the process, however, the Board has described Initiative 

#103 in terms that are misleading.  Doing so demonstrates that the Board cannot 

fashion a title for Initiative #103 that both concerns only a single subject and 

accurately describes the scope of the measure.  Because the Titles are too broad 

and are misleading about the purposes of Initiative #103, this Court should reverse 

the Board’s decision. 

C. The Titles do not clearly describe the Initiative’s treatment of 
existing permits.  
 

This Court should reverse the Board’s decision because the Titles for 

Initiative #103 are misleading about the measure’s terms operating against private 

property interests in permits issued by the government for the use, access, or 

production of natural resources within the state.  The Titles use the phrase 

“regardless of any prior federal, state, or local approval” to describe the permits to 
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which the new conditions and requirements under Initiative #103 would be applied 

retroactively.  This language fails to provide voters with adequate notice that 

presently-issued permits, which are completely valid under current law and which 

allow Coloradans lawfully to use, access, or produce various kinds of natural 

resources within the state for private purposes, would be subject to a threat of a 

taking if the initiative were enacted into law. 

D. The Titles improperly omit a material feature of the Initiative. 
 

This Court should reverse the Board’s decision setting the Titles for 

Initiative #103 because the Titles omit a material feature of the initiative involving 

the creation of an “inalienable right” to public trust resources.  By failing to 

include this important purpose of the initiative, the Titles do not adequately inform 

the voters of a very significant right they are creating for all Colorado citizens.  

Voters would be unclear regarding the impact of their “yes” or “no” vote on 

Initiative #103 if they are not provided with notice of this new inalienable right to 

public trust resources. 

CONCLUSION 

This Court should reverse the Board’s action in setting the Titles because 

Ms. Mills-Bria’s absence deprived the Board of jurisdiction, Initiative #103 is not 

limited to a single subject, and the Titles are unclear and misleading. 
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CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: All right. We are back

on. This is a continuation of yesterday’s Title Board

Setting Hearing. We’re meeting today in the Aspen Room

at the Secretary of State’s Office, which is on the

Third Floor, 1700 Broadway.

The date is Friday, April 25th and we have

four additional matters held over from yesterday for

rehearing. The first matter is Initiative 2013-2014

No. 103. And there was a Motion for Rehearing filed by

Mr. Kaufman. If you could come up and --

MR. LEONHARDT: Madam Chair, Members of the

Board, we have two jurisdictional issues today. The

first is a new one, since our Motion for Rehearing is

filed.

Designated representative, Barbera Mills-Bria,

is not present today, was not present yesterday.

Section 1-40-106(4)(a) requires that each designated

representative shall appear at any Title Board Meeting

where a valid issue is considered.

And Section 4(b) requires that each designated

representative must sign an affidavit at the first

Title Board Hearing.

Respectfully, we do not believe that there’s

any authorization for a new designated representative

to sign the affidavit at a rehearing.
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And that’s why we respectfully question

whether the Board has jurisdiction to allow the

proponents to proceed with a brand new designated

representative at this late stage of the proceedings.

Ms. Mills-Bria has been the designated

representative throughout, up through the first hearing

along with Mr. Doe, up through the first hearing that

was held last week.

I believe there was some reference yesterday

to the 2012 Supreme Court decision on the statute in

Hayes v. Odkey where the Court recognized that this

statutory requirement is both unambiguous and

inflexible and that the intent and purpose of this

requirement is that the designated representatives be

available to explain the Measures, to answer the

Board’s questions, including answering the Board’s

questions on review and comment hearing.

Mr. Doe and Ms. Mills-Bria were the designated

representatives at the review and comment hearing on

the similar initiatives based on which Legislative

Council waived review and comment on Initiative 103.

They have been the designated representatives

throughout Initiative 103, continuing through this

Board’s hearing last week.

I don’t know if the Board wants to hear other
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jurisdictional arguments at this point or to address

this issue first.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Yes, if you could do all

jurisdictional and then we’ll get a response from staff

and the proponent.

MR. LEONHARDT: Okay. And the jurisdictional

issue raised in our Motion for Rehearing is the

question of multiple subjects.

We believe Initiative 103 contains at least

four subjects. First, it would create a constitutional

form of a public trust doctrine based on a newly

created common property interest in the environment and

certain natural resources designated as public trust

resources. That’s in Section 1.

Also, in Section 1, it would create a new

inalienable right to a clean and preserved environment.

And Section 4 includes creation of a new crime

based on manipulation of data.

And in Section 5 would retroactively apply new

conditions and requirements to any applicable federal,

state, local permits regardless of when they were

granted, less impairing established property rights.

The primary focus of the Initiative is

creating a public trust in the environment and

resources as a common property right. This is broad
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and sweeping and necessarily takes away private

property rights by bringing them into common property.

And similar themes have appeared in Initiative 89 that

the Board reviewed last week.

Mr. Doe, one of the designated representatives

of this Measure, also some of the board members may

recall, was a proponent of a couple of public trust

initiatives two years ago, Initiatives 3 and 45,

regarding public trust and water resources. And of

Initiative 17 in 2017, which involved a public trust

standard for state agency decision-making.

And similar to that, what the court found on

that Measure, Initiative 103, simply recasts the words

of the public trust standard in a different form, but

in a way that constitutes a separate subject from other

subjects in this Measure.

The other subjects that I believe are

surreptitious subjects coiled up the folds, just as the

public trust standard was found to be in the 2007 case,

creating a new inalienable constitutional right,

certainly as a subject all in and of itself.

Retroactive application to previous permits,

includes permits that have granted property rights.

But this is unrelated to the designation of common

property rights in the public trust in that common
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property.

And last, but not least, creation of a new

crime to be specified, but vaguely defined in the

Constitution is a separate subject. It’s not necessary

to the purpose of the Initiative. These other three

subjects are not necessarily properly connected to the

primary theme of the public trust, nor do they have a

necessary or proper connection to one another.

And those are our jurisdictional points for

this hearing.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: All right. Thank you.

MS. PALLOTTI: We have the same jurisdictional

issues.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: You could incorporate his

comments, whatever you want.

MS. PALLOTTI: May it please the Board, Sarah

Pallotti appearing on behalf of the objectors, Mr.

Cordero and Mr. Prestidge.

I’d just like to reiterate Mr. Leonhardt’s

comments about the jurisdictional issues. As he said,

the designated representative, Barbera Mills-Bria, is

not present today.

The Supreme Court case Hayes v. Odkey requires

strict construction of the statute requiring both

proponents to be here. She’s not here. This is a
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pretty black and white issue.

There’s also the same single-subject

requirements that we’d like to incorporate. There’s,

at a bare minimum, at least three subjects in this

proposal, the establishment of a common property right

to all public trust resources, imposing upon the state

a public trusteeship to protect these public trust

resources, which is not recognized in the Colorado

Constitution, and then creating a new preemption scheme

whereby any applicable local, state, or federal permit

previously recognized would be superseded by this

doctrine.

This, of course, is completely separate from

the establishment of a common property right or from

the establishment of a public trust.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Thank you. On the issue

of the proponents, Mr. Ward, do you want to --

MR. WARD: So, we have a notarized affidavit

from Ms. Mills-Bria withdrawing as a designated

representative, along with a notarized affidavit and an

affidavit of designated representative from Sandra

Toland, appointing herself as a new designated

representative.

Mr. Doe has signed both of these notarized

documents consenting to the switch out of designated
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representatives.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Okay. And did you say we

have a rule on that?

MR. WARD: There is nothing in rule, although

we have used this procedure in the past.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Okay. All right. Do you

want to come up and respond?

MR. DOE: As to that matter?

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: To the jurisdictional, to

the single subject and the issue about the

substitution.

MR. DOE: Sure. Single subject, public trust,

this is the United States Supreme Court. This is what

they said in the Illinois Central case, which I’m sure

you’re all familiar with.

The public trust doctrine is of ancient

origin. Its roots trace to Roman civil law and its

principles can be found in English common law, et

cetera, et cetera, et cetera.

So, we’re not creating anything. We’re simply

memorializing something that already exists. And it’s

our right to protect that which is ours against

overreach -- statutory overreach by government.

And as to what our rights are, which seem to

be in some question, I’d like to turn to our State
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Constitution and the Bill of Rights.

Section 1, Vestment of Political Power. We

take this stuff seriously. All political power is

vested and derived from the people. All government of

right originates from the people. It’s founded upon

their will only and instituted solely for the good of

the whole.

And then as to inalienable rights, which seems

to be the source of some confusion here. And this is

Section 3.

All persons have certain natural, essential,

an inalienable rights, among which may be reckoned the

right of enjoying and defending their lives and

liberties of acquiring, possessing and protecting

property and of seeking and obtaining their safety and

happiness.

Now if we did not have the right to protect

that which is ours, what rights do we have? Now all

this Initiative is doing is establishing a way of

protecting the public’s resources against overreach and

a regulatory system which doesn’t seem to be working

for us.

That’s my statement. That’s where we stand.

It’s a simple principle. It’s a conceptual thing, but

it’s one purpose.
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CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Any questions for any of

the --

BOARD MEMBER: Well, do you want to -- let me

just address, I guess, the substitution right.

The way I read the case and the statute, the

only real question for us is whether we have in front

of us the designated representatives.

And so, in other words, is the substitution

effective, right? If it is effective, then we’re fine.

If it’s not, then the Hayes case requires us to say we

don’t have jurisdiction. I think I’m understanding our

situation correctly.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Yes.

BOARD MEMBER: So, it seems to me that there

should be a process by which people can substitute a

new designated representative, either for instances

like this or if someone could imagine an even more dire

situation in which one of the proponents is actually

incapacitated. It doesn’t seem to me that that should

mean they can’t go forward. So I would give effect to

the substitution and move on.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: I would too for those

same reasons that there has to be a way to do a

substitution. The case that was referred to was a case

where the proponents were not in the room and that’s a
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little bit different than allowing for a substitution,

which we’ve heard has been notarized and authorized by

the other representatives, so I don’t have a problem

with it.

BOARD MEMBER: Yeah. I think I agree. I

mean, absent some indication that we don’t have

authority to do a substitution or some statute or rule

that says we’re doing it the wrong way, which I don’t

think exists, it seems appropriate to me.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: We’re going to vote on

it. Why don’t we vote on that issue? Do you want to

do a motion?

BOARD MEMBER: Sure. Is it a denial of

rehearing at this point or just a motion to find that

we have the jurisdiction?

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: We have jurisdiction.

BOARD MEMBER: I just move that we have

jurisdiction to continue on and that’s not being

removed due to having a new designated proponent.

BOARD MEMBER: Second.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: All those in favor? Aye.

MR. DOMENICO: Aye.

MR. GELENDER: Aye.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: All right. So now we’re

on to the single-subject question. Does anyone have
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any questions for the proponent or opponent?

MR. GELENDER: I have a question. The

Initiative refers to natural resources. What does that

cover?

MR. DOE: Well, I think it goes on to say air,

water, land, but that isn’t all inclusive. The

public’s air, land, and water, I mean, those are among

the natural recourses.

MR. GELENDER: Right. What I’m asking is what

other ones do you think fall under that term?

MR. DOE: I think you could say state parks,

wildlife, which is a public resource.

MR. GELENDER: Okay.

MR. DOE: That’s not meant to be all

inclusive. I mean, we’ve always said there would have

to be a rule in making them on this and somebody’s

going to have to decide what the limitations are.

MR. GELENDER: Okay.

MR. DOE: We resisted, as I think you know,

when this was under review with legal counsel trying to

define every issue. It’s just like the issue of what

is substantial impairment.

I can tell you what substantial impairment

means to me, but I don’t think that we have to be so

broad that we define these things at this point.
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MR. GELENDER: Okay. I’m done for now.

MR. DOMENICO: I guess I have a bit of a

question. So, I understand what you’re saying, partly,

is that, if I’m not mistaken, your position is,

essentially, you shouldn’t have to do this, right?

Your reading of the various parts of the constitution

is that we basically -- this should have been the

situation all along, essentially, right?

MR. DOE: Right.

MR. DOMENICO: But your comment about English

common law and the quote from Illinois Central that’s

come up in the past, I think what the petitioners, the

objectors are saying is, it would be one thing to just

say, look, we’re going to impose this public trust idea

that’s consistent with English common law, this general

established idea.

But you’ve also kind of gone a step beyond

that and added a number of very specific provisions

that aren’t necessarily what you would come up with

under the kind of generic historic understanding, the

criminal offense, the local versus state preemption

idea.

So that, I think, is their point is

establishing a public-trust idea, maybe even common

property, is one thing. Going then the next step in
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kind of, in some ways, micromanaging is that the

meaning of that, tweaking it, how it would work out in

practice is perhaps, takes you out of the kind of

general idea that, for example, the water context came

up, and makes it more like situations that the court,

the Supreme Court has said your sort of use of a big,

broad idea is covering these very specific and

potentially important aspects of the Measure that

aren’t necessarily part of the general idea of a public

trust.

MR. DOE: Mm-hmm.

MR. DOMENICO: Do you want to expound?

MR. DOE: Yes, please. Well, our experience,

and I think the legal experience of people that deal in

public trust, namely, Hap Dunning at the University of

California, Davis, is one of the chief legal experts on

this subject, do not believe that public trust will be

observed unless there are several -- unless there are

pretty specific provisions providing for the

enforcement. And this is the Colorado Supreme Court on

this very issue, I think. I think it’s germane to that

issue.

The single-subject requirement must be

liberally construed so as not to impose undo

restrictions on the initiative process.
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To that end, the single-subject requirement

does not preclude the use of provisions that are not

wholly integral to the basic idea of the proposed

initiative.

As you know, this is a laborious process and

it takes a lot of people’s efforts to get this done.

But I think, you know, if you look at the public’s

reaction to how the environment is being treated and

how the public’s resources are being treated, I think

we all have an obligation to allow the public to vote

on this issue. How do we want to protect the

environment?

You know, there’s an experiment in biology

where you put a frog in a pond and then you slowly turn

up the heat and you slowly continue to turn up the heat

until it boils and the frog dies.

There are some people of the opinion that

that’s what we’re doing to our environment and our

natural resources. And all we’re trying to do is

protect those things for this generation and the coming

generations. That’s all we’re trying to do and we

think it has to have teeth.

BOARD MEMBER: I thought you were going to

compare that to a Title Board Hearing.

MR. DOE: Well, I’m not a lawyer. I just have
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to tell you what I’m thinking. I’m sorry.

MR. DOMENICO: No, I understand. I think the

concern is, is you’re exactly right, how are we going

to deal with this perceived problem?

And the question that I think we sort of have

to ask ourselves is, are there people -- does it makes

sense to say all these things should be in the same

Measure or if you want to impose a public trust, great,

go for it.

But if you want to rearrange the preemption

system, you might have to ask people separately if

that’s an additional step they want to take. Or if you

want to criminalize certain types of information

gathering, that might be a separate issue.

Those are the questions I think I have that,

sure, you can ask people all these questions, but can

you make them choose all or nothing. And I think this,

to me, is a close case. I’m probably inclined to go

forward, but I do think it’s a close case.

MR. DOE: May I just say -- I’ll try to be on

point, at least as my non-legal mind perceives it.

I mean, let’s take, for instance, something

that I think is tantamount to this. Let’s say that the

public wanted to reform public education.

I think it would be illogical and naïve to
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think that if they were going to reform education,

they’d have to it first K, then one, then two, then

three, then four, then -- because they’re all somewhat

different, but it’s all under the concept of public

education.

I think that’s what we’re arguing here is the

concept of public trust and we want it to work. We

simply want it to work. And there’s a mechanism there

to make it work and that’s all we’re asking for.

MR. DOMENICO: Okay. I don’t think I have any

more questions.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Okay. Thank you.

MR. GELENDER: Well, I guess it’s time for me

to go into a sort of some rather long and hopefully

somewhat clear explanation because I did vote to find a

single subject last time and I don’t plan to vote that

way today.

So, that sort of change of mind, especially

when it’s not necessarily based particularly on what’s

in the Motions for Rehearing, I think it’s appropriate

to explain that.

So first, as to last time why I thought then

that this had a single subject was it’s certainly very

broad, but at least reading it on its face it seemed

that everything was connected to a broad purpose,
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which, for me, is essentially something like a public

right to environment or environmental protection.

I don’t know that I saw much log rolling, you

know, that there’s anything in here sort of designed to

induce people who are not -- I guess would not consider

themselves in favor of environmental protection, sort

of generally, to sign up for this.

And I don’t know that it’s deliberately or

intentionally surreptitious. And then we have the

precedent from No. 3 two years ago, which was also

quite broad.

And I was sort of left with the question,

well, based on all those factors in the precedent is

just expanding this doctrine beyond water into all this

other stuff seemed like too big.

And my instincts were saying yeah, this is

just too much, but I couldn’t find a case on point that

necessarily said, well, a subject can be just too big,

even the ones the cases would say water, and those

types of things.

It was always not really so much that the term

was too big, but that what was under it wasn’t

necessarily and properly connected. At the time I

thought these things might be.

As for why I’m inclined to change my mind, in
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looking at this more I started to get concerned for

sort of what does preservation of the environment and

natural resources mean?

And what I think is, a lot of people could

look at this, voters, and think they’re voting on

protecting the air and the water, basically.

So I looked up natural resources. A variety

of definitions from the OECD, among other places, and

it includes a lot. It includes things like soil,

timber, game, which I think a proponent acknowledged,

you know, fish, mineral resources.

And in considering that, then I ran up against

the other thing, which is we’re not supposed to

consider the effects of initiatives or what could

happen with them.

That said, relying on simply public surprise,

I think the public would be surprised in voting on this

to find out just how broad it really is likely to be,

that it’s likely to apply a public trust to just about

everything.

I’m not sure that someone couldn’t say, you

know, just cut off oil and gas credits, start an action

to prevent oil and gas drilling on someone’s private

property altogether. I think this could apply to

things like grazing rights.
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And while we can’t speculate too much, we do

have to know generally what an initiative is going to

do to find a single subject and I just think that the

use, especially the environment and natural resources,

I think those are two different things, frankly, that

natural resources encompasses a lot more than people

are inclined to think it does in the context of the

rest of the Measure. And for that reason I’m inclined

to not find a single subject today.

MR. DOMENICO: Well, there’s very little I

disagree with in what you said, except I think the

conclusion. I do think it’s remarkably broad. I think

there is a fairly good chance that people just reading

environment or natural resources would not comprehend

quite how far that could go.

But, to me, that doesn’t necessarily make it

separate subjects. Just as you said, it makes it an

incredibly broad subject.

As I was, I think, revealing through my

questions, once you’re dealing with something that

broad, it does become to me, and I think this is

reflected in the case law. Once you start dealing with

something so broad, when you start kind of

micromanaging it and having sort of specific provisions

that are related, but sort of not necessary to
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implement your broad vision, it starts to get

troubling.

And that’s where I get a little bit concerned

about this and in particular about -- the preemption

is, to me, is certainly, I assume, likely to be

helpful, but is also kind of a major provision that

isn’t necessarily part of it.

You can certainly have a strong public trust,

public ownership system of all these things, I think,

without that aspect of it.

But we’ve already approved dozens, hundreds,

thousands of Measures with local preemption efforts in

them and this one doesn’t seem to me to cause a problem

if those didn’t.

So, I agree, I think it’s a closed case. I

think trying to do something both so broad and then

incorporating so many specifics is potentially

problematic, but I don’t think this quite goes over the

line.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: I mean, I agree. This

may be a case that the court would tell us we were

wrong. Sometimes that’s very hard to predict. I think

that -- I’m persuaded that even though it’s a very

broad topic, it is a single topic, which is the

creation of the public trust and because it creates a
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public trust over a lot of things, I don’t think makes

it a secondary subject.

My greater concern was actually the -- you

know, the part about the damages and the criminalizing

and the manipulation and all those kinds of things that

are sort of separate from that concept, but they are

all part of the same concept.

And I’m typically pretty liberal in my

construction of single subject just because of the

right to petition and the fundamental nature of that

right. And so I’m persuaded that it’s single subject.

I think it’s our motion.

MR. DOMENICO: Okay. So, then I’ll move that

we deny the motion for rehearing on motions for

rehearing on jurisdictional grounds and find that the

Measure 103 has a single subject.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Second. All those in

favor? Aye.

MR. DOMENICO: Aye.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Opposed?

MR. GELENDER: No.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Okay. So that passes two

to one. And now we’re on to the language. I’m not

sure which order you want to go in, but come talk about

the language or if you want to come up together, that’s
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fine too.

MR. LEONHARDT: Thank you, Madam Chair.

Steven Leonhardt for Petitioner Douglas Kemper.

With regard to the title language, first of

all, I would look at the phrase “concerning a public

trust and environmental resources”, which I think is

reflective of the problems that some of us and some of

the board members were struggling with regarding is

this a single subject? If so, why is it?

I think, first of all, it’s too narrow in some

respects. Environmental resources, it seems to me

significantly more narrow than the environment and

natural resources as has been discussed this morning.

And the phrase “concerning a public trust and

environmental resources” certainly gives no indication

of creating a new crime or reopening previously granted

federal and other permits.

I think we’ve also got a catch-phrase issue.

And I know we had a similar issue on rehearing with an

issue of 89 last week.

I agree that the phrase “public trust” is

central in this initiative. However it’s used here to

mean something very different than the traditional

public trust doctrine that Mr. Doe alluded to with the

Illinois Central case and Roman law and Common law, as
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explained in the Illinois Central decision by the U.S.

Supreme Court that public trust doctrine has

traditionally been understood to mean a restraint on

the sovereigns conveyance of tide lands and navigable

waters and the underlying lands in order to protect

public use for commercial, navigation, and fishing.

Traditional public trust doctrine was further

explained in a dissenting opinion on a court on

Initiative 3 two years ago. But it looks nothing like

the public trust that’s purposed in this initiative and

to the extent that the public has any basis to

understand the phrase “public trust” as anything other

than a catch phrase, it would have to be the

traditional doctrine and that’s not the sense in which

it’s used here at all.

Also, just to respond briefly to Mr. Doe’s

statement that this has always been the law of the U.S.

Supreme Court, also suggested in Illinois Central and

recognized very clearly on another case two years ago

called PPL Montana v. State of Montana.

The public trust doctrine is not an issue of

federal law. It’s an issue of state law for each state

to decide. And as the Colorado Supreme Court has

decided in People v. (inaudible) acknowledged it in a

few other decisions since then, the State of Colorado
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does not recognize a public trust doctrine either as a

matter of common law or constitutional law, which is

why anything that might be called a public trust in

this initiative would be newly created.

So our concerns with the title begin with that

opening phrase.

We also would believe that the title

improperly omits mention of two key features of the

initiative and therefore is insufficient.

It does not mention the creation of a

inalienable right to specific features of the

environment and natural resources. And an inalienable

right certainly is an important concept

constitutionally and one that should be disclosed in

the title.

The title also improperly omits mention of the

retroactive application of requirements in the

initiative to previously approved local, state, and

federal permits.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Do you have any

suggestion for what you believe the single subject

would be?

MR. LEONHARDT: I don’t believe it’s a single

subject.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Okay.
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MS. PALLOTTI: This is Sarah Pallotti again

for objectors, Mr. Cordero and Mr. Prestidge.

The Board kind of touched on this in the

discussion of the single-subject requirement, but I

think this initiative is plagued by being too broad,

misleading, and a lot of voters are going to be

surprised.

So even finding the single subject has been

met, I think it’s so vague that the Board simply can’t

set a title that’s going to accurately reflect the true

intent of this provision.

This was already touched on once, but I think

-- more so on the natural resources side, but Section 1

discusses the preservation of the environment.

Again, this term “environment”, I think, is a

buzzword that voters are going to jump at. Everyone

can get on board with this idea, but not recognizing

how broad that it is and how much that encompasses.

The environment is defined by Black’s Law

Dictionary as a sum total of all surroundings of a

living organism, including natural forces and other

living things which provide conditions for development

and growth as well as danger and damage.

I think that’s about as broad of a definition

as you can find and that’s something that voters aren’t
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going to understand how much is encompassed by this.

Going on into Section 2, it states that the

state government and its agents, as trustees, shall

protect public trust resources against substantial

impairment.

Again, this is a really broad term. There’s

no standard given of what constitutes substantial

impairment. And then combining that with the

environment and natural resources, if I throw a Coke

can in the Platte River, is that substantial

impairment, as opposed to pollution from plants on

I-70?

I don’t think voters will understand what kind

of actions are going to be impacted. With the way the

title is currently set, there’s no way for them to

understand this initiative.

Again, going on in Section 2, if an action or

policy has a suspected risk of substantially impairing

public trust resources, then the burden would fall to

the proponent of the action or policy to show it is not

harmful.

Suspected risk is an extremely low standard

that’s going -- again, voters aren’t knowing that

that’s what they are getting themselves into and what

types of actions are going to trigger this burden and
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that they can’t go forward without proving that it’s

not harmful.

Lastly, going on to Section 6, which is not

mentioned in the title, it states that laws may be

enacted to enhance, but cannot be contrary.

This is even more vague than previous issues

the Board has dealt with of state versus local

regulation. There’s nothing in this section explaining

whether a more restrictive regulation at the state

would enhance this provision, whether it would be

contrary. There’s nothing giving guidance there.

I think these broad definitions are going to

lead to a lot of voter surprise when they find out what

they’ve actually signed up for. You take that in

connection with the fact that the title completely

omits Section 5 and 6 of the initiative.

Section 5 of the initiative states this

section is self-enacting and self-executing and shall

apply to a public action or commercial dealing that

would violate it regardless of the date of any

applicable local, state, or federal permit.

I think there’s an argument to be made that

this would amount to a taking of -- as we’ve discussed,

as the Board already mentioned -- that if natural

resources includes mineral rights, previously
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recognized permits issued by federal, state, or local

governments would no longer be recognized and that

could amount to a taking.

Again, I think a voter is going to be

surprised to find that in voting for what they thought

was a preservation of natural resources, they’ve

actually consented to a taking of their property

rights.

So, for those reasons, I think the Board must

grant our motion and deny sitting title because it’s

too vague and ambiguous.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Okay. Thank you. Any

questions?

BOARD MEMBER: No.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Do you want to come up

and make any record as a proponent?

MR. DOE: I like the title as set. I thought

you did a good job. I would like to say something

about language. And just because something has common

usage doesn’t make it hackneyed. You can say

motherhood and apple pie and that may be tried, but

motherhood isn’t.

And the environment is a commonly-used term

that I think has common meaning to most people. And to

assert or imply that the public doesn’t know what it
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means by the environment I think is disingenuous. I

think they do know.

And when they’re asked to vote on the

environment, whether it should be protected or not,

overwhelmingly -- generally in surveys over 70 percent

say it should be protected. Give them the chance to

figure out whether this is a good law or not.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Okay. Thank you.

BOARD MEMBER: There were a couple things that

struck me. I would at least consider taking the public

trust language out of the single subject and referring

instead to something like public ownership of natural

and environmental resources.

And then if we did that, we’d have to probably

add a tiny bit before the definition. I also thought

it was worth considering discussing kind of undoing

existing permits potentially or -- but I lean against

that. Other than that, I was basically okay with it.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Do you want to add

something there about creating a -- in connection

therewith creating a public trust?

BOARD MEMBER: Yeah, something like that.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Because then we define

the trust, so that would probably be where it should

go.
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MS. PALLOTTI: This is Sarah Pallotti for Mr.

Cordero and Mr. Prestidge. I think the title, again,

as currently written completely omits a very critical

section of this initiative, which is those permits that

we talked about, regardless of the date of any

applicable local, state or federal permit.

I think to allow the title to go forward with

no mention of a pretty critical section of the

initiative is going to be extremely misleading to

voters.

BOARD MEMBER: And for what it’s worth, I’m

inclined to agree with that. I do think we should have

some reference to that.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Okay.

BOARD MEMBER: Can I quickly suggest, maybe,

before we get to that, a way to clean up part of the

mess that I created. Instead of saying “creating a

public trust in those resources” and then “comma which

include or are defined to include” and then go over to

clean air, et cetera. I don’t know where you want to

put the other part.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Yeah, wherever you want

to.

BOARD MEMBER: Maybe after “impairs them” as

part of the same clause, on line 7, would be my first
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instinct.

BOARD MEMBER: So I wonder if it might work

better after “the impairment” on line 6?

BOARD MEMBER: Okay.

BOARD MEMBER: I mean, maybe it’s something

like regardless of whether the impairment occurred. It

seems like it’s regardless of whether the impairment

was initially authorized or something like that because

that’s what it’s really saying, but it’s not entirely

accurate.

The only purpose of this, regardless of the

date of permits thing seems to me is if we find this --

if a court finds this to create a substantial

impairment, they essentially don’t care whether the

person’s been authorized to do it, if I read it right.

BOARD MEMBER: Right. That’s the way I think

it reads too.

BOARD MEMBER: I mean, I think I almost say

regardless of whether any government or government

entity or whatever, you know, previously authorized the

activity that resulted in the impairment. I know

that’s way too long, but something like that seems --

BOARD MEMBER: Well, the other way to do it

would be something like applying its provisions to any

public action or commercial dealing, regardless of any
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applicable local, state or federal permits or something

like that, the date of.

BOARD MEMBER: Yeah. Thank you. My question

for you is, what are you trying to do with this

Subsection 5 and what’s it do in your mind?

BOARD MEMBER: Well, I think that substantial

impairment is a concept that exists regardless of

whether an activity has been authorized or not. So it

may cause certain activities to cease. So I would

suggest that you say “regardless”.

I think I would say something like, on line 6

after “against” maybe “any” and then put like an

including clause, including impairment that results

from previously authorized or previously permitted

actions.

BOARD MEMBER: Couldn’t you just say

“regardless of -- I mean, I like the basic structure,

but why not just regardless of any applicable local,

state or federal permits or regardless of the date of

any --

BOARD MEMBER: Regardless of government

permits.

BOARD MEMBER: Yeah.

BOARD MEMBER: Something like that.

BOARD MEMBER: Yeah. I mean, that’s the sense
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of it, I think.

BOARD MEMBER: Right. I mean, the basic point

is, so I got my permit to drill this year, so I’m

drilling. This would subject me to the provision, the

substantive provisions even if I couldn’t walk in and

say, well, I already have my permit, leave me alone,

right?

BOARD MEMBER: Yeah, you might be able to dry

up a river, but with this, you might not be able to dry

up a river.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Okay.

MR. LEONHARDT: I’m not sure that that fully

captures it. And in particular, I doubt that it fully

captures the important aspect of retroactivity. And I

think even the phrase that’s been added would not be

understood by the usual voter to be retroactive, which

Section 5 clearly is.

And maybe a way to begin to address that might

be to say, regardless of any previous federal, state or

local approval.

BOARD MEMBER: Works for me.

BOARD MEMBER: I would prefer “existing” or

“preexisting”.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Yeah.

BOARD MEMBER: I was going to say “prior”.
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BOARD MEMBER: Well, okay, “prior” or

“preexisting”.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: I’m okay with “prior”.

BOARD MEMBER: Okay.

BOARD MEMBER: Yeah. I think that’s better.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Anything else?

BOARD MEMBER: Give me a second. You know, I

think it’s a reflection of the single-subject challenge

here, but we have an “and” in our single subject.

I mean, if we think natural and environmental

resources are two different things, maybe we keep it

there otherwise, I would suggest that maybe we pick

whichever one we may think is broader or just say --

well, I don’t know if we’d want to just say “resources”

--

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: No.

BOARD MEMBER: -- that’s too much, but just a

thought.

BOARD MEMBER: Yeah. I’m okay with it as is.

I’d be okay picking one or the other to --

BOARD MEMBER: I’m fine putting an “and” in

the subject.

BOARD MEMBER: Okay. I’m not going to push.

BOARD MEMBER: I never really have understood

that obsession either, but I know it exists. So, I’m
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inclined to leave it, I guess, for now.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Okay. Let me read it

then. It’s an amendment to the Colorado Constitution

concerning public ownership of natural and

environmental resources and in connection therewith

creating a public trust in those resources, which

include clean air, clean water, and the preservation of

the environment and natural resources requiring the

status trustee to conserve and maintain public trust

resources by using the best science available to

protect them against any substantial impairment

regardless of any prior, federal, state or local

approval seeking natural resource damages from anyone

who substantially impairs them and using damages

obtained to remediate the impairment allowing Colorado

citizens to file enforcement actions in court requiring

any person who is purposing an action or policy that

might substantially impair public trust resources to

prove that the action or policy is not harmful and

criminalizing the manipulation of data reports or

scientific information in an attempt to use public

trust resources for private property.

So my only question was, do we need a

semicolon in the middle of all those commas?

BOARD MEMBER: Yes, on line 6, after
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“approval”, yes.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Okay.

BOARD MEMBER: So I’ll move that we deny the

motions for rehearing, except to the extent that we

have modified the title as it now appears on the

screen.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Second. All those in

favor? Aye.

BOARD MEMBER: Aye.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Opposed?

BOARD MEMBER: No.

CHAIRWOMAN STAIERT: Okay. All right. So, it

passes two to one.

(The hearing concerning No. 103 was

concluded.)
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